© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Depression in Patients with Parkinson's Disease Epidemiology, Pathophysiology and Treatment Options

Theresa A. Zesiewicz¹ and Robert A. Hauser^{1,2}

- 1 Parkinson's Disease and Movement Disorders Center, and Department of Neurology, University of South Florida College of Medicine, Tampa, Florida, USA
- 2 Department of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, University of South Florida College of Medicine, Tampa, Florida, USA

Contents

Abstract	3
1. Epidemiology	4
1.1 Diagnosis	4
1.2 Prevalence	4
1.3 Depression and Age at Onset	5
1.4 Prodromal Symptoms	5
1.5 Symptoms	5
1.6 Depression and Severity of Parkinson's Disease (PD)	5
1.7 Depression and Motor Fluctuations	6
1.8 Depression in PD Compared with Other Chronic Diseases	6
2. Pathophysiology	6
2.1 Depression and Dopamine	6
2.2 Depression and Serotonin	7
2.3 Anatomy of Depression in PD	7
3. Treatment	8
3.1 Nonpharmacological	8
3.2 Pharmacological	8
3.2.1 Antidepressants	8
3.2.2 Selegiline (Deprenyl)	0
3.2.3 Dopamine Agonists	1
4. Conclusions	1

Abstract

The evaluation and treatment of depression is an important component of the management of individuals with Parkinson's disease. This review summarises current knowledge on the epidemiology, pathophysiology and treatment of depression in Parkinson's disease.

Limited information is available regarding the pathophysiology of depression in Parkinson's disease and the effectiveness of treatment. Selective serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HT) reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are commonly used but more information is needed regarding their tolerability and antidepressant efficacy in patients with Parkinson's disease, and their effect on motor function. Antidepressants can interact with selegiline (deprenyl) to cause the 'serotonin syndrome', although retrospective chart reviews indicate that this is rare. While several case reports have noted worsening parkinsonian motor features with SSRI use, open-label prospective studies have not substantiated these findings. Further double-blind, prospective studies would be valuable to further evaluate the tol-erability and efficacy of antidepressants in Parkinson's disease.

The identification and treatment of depression is critically important in the management of Parkinson's disease. Depression in Parkinson's disease is very common and has a major impact on patients' quality of life. Reported prevalence rates range from 4 to 70%.^[1] A recent study found that depression was one of the most detrimental factors impacting on overall quality of life in patients with Parkinson's disease.^[2]

A recent survey by Parkinson's Study Group (PSG) investigators found that 26% of patients with Parkinson's disease are receiving antidepressants.^[3] Despite widespread use, there is limited information available regarding the efficacy of antidepressants in Parkinson's disease. In addition, multiple case reports have suggested that selective serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HT) reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) may worsen the motor features of Parkinson's disease. There is also concern that the concomitant use of selegiline (deprenyl; a monoamine oxidase inhibitor commonly used for the motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease) and an SSRI might cause the serotonin syndrome.

In this review, we summarise available information on the epidemiology and pathophysiology of depression in Parkinson's disease, review treatment options and discuss possible interactions between antidepressants and selegiline. This information may help guide clinical treatment and define the need for further studies.

1. Epidemiology

1.1 Diagnosis

Depression in Parkinson's disease can be diagnosed in accordance with criteria provided in the DSM-IV.^[4] Many patients with Parkinson's disease appear to have depressive symptoms that do not meet DSM criteria for a major depressive disorder, but do meet criteria for less severe depressive disorders, such as dysthymic disorder and minor depressive disorder.^[5]

Clinical rating scales can be used to quantify the magnitude of depression. Such scales include the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI),^[6] the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory,^[7] and the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAM-D).^[8] Other scales include the Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS),^[9] the Geriatric Depression scale,^[10] and the General Health Questionnaire.^[11,12] The BDI and HAM-D are the two most commonly used rating scales to assess depression in individuals with Parkinson's disease.^[13-17] The BDI has been found to be reliable and valid for quantifying depression in such patients.^[18] Other instruments, including the HAM-D, have not yet been validated.

The somatic symptoms of Parkinson's disease, such as sleeping difficulties and psychomotor retardation, may overlap with depressive symptoms, often making it difficult to diagnose depression.

1.2 Prevalence

The incidence of depression in patients with Parkinson's disease varies widely depending on the criteria employed to diagnose depression. In early studies, the term 'depression' was loosely defined,^[19] and patients were characterised as being depressed by self-reported rating scales and nonstandardised clinical interviews.^[19] More recent studies have utilised DSM criteria and validated rating scales, resulting in more meaningful data.

Several reviews have found that 40 to 50% of patients with Parkinson's disease fulfil DSM-IV criteria for a mood disorder.^[5,20-24] Approximately 20% of patients with Parkinson's disease meet criteria for major depression, while 20% meet criteria

for dysthymia.^[5] However, the majority of these studies evaluated patients in tertiary care settings.^[5,20-24] The prevalence figures are disputed by some investigators who argue that patients with Parkinson's disease who are in tertiary care settings may be more likely to experience depression than patients with Parkinson's disease who live in the community.^[25] Indeed, a number of studies evaluating community-based populations have uncovered lower prevalence rates of depression in Parkinson's disease. Tandberg et al.^[25] found a prevalence rate of only 7.7% for major depression using DSM-III criteria,^[26] MADRS and BDI scores in a community-based study.^[25] While 45% of patients with Parkinson's disease were found to have mild depression as determined by the MADRS, only 5.1% of these patients were moderately or severely depressed.^[25] Hantz et al.^[19] found that only 2.7% of patients with Parkinson's disease who were living in the community had major depression as diagnosed using DSM-III criteria. However, 16% of identified patients with Parkinson's disease refused to participate in this study and 26% of patients [those with Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) scores less than 26] were excluded. This could be important as there may be an association between impaired cognitive function and major depression in Parkinson's disease.^[27]

Limited studies suggest that depression may be slightly more common in female patients with Parkinson's disease.^[28]

1.3 Depression and Age at Onset

There may be an association between age at onset and depressive symptoms in Parkinson's disease, although the issue remains controversial. Several studies have suggested that patients with Parkinson's disease who become depressed generally tend to be younger than those patients who do not become depressed.^[29] However, Kostic et al.^[30] found that although patients with early onset Parkinson's disease showed a higher frequency of depression when compared with a late onset group, the difference was not present after controlling for duration of illness.

1.4 Prodromal Symptoms

Several investigators have posited the existence of premorbid personality characteristics in patients with Parkinson's disease, including introversion and lack of flexibility.^[31,32] Patients with Parkinson's disease may also demonstrate premorbid depressive characteristics. In one retrospective study of 60 patients with Parkinson's disease and 58 agematched controls examining the decade prior to disease onset, patients with Parkinson's disease were found to consult general practice physicians for 'mood disorders' more frequently than the control group. 'Mood disorders' included depression, anxiety and nervousness.^[33]

1.5 Symptoms

Depressive symptoms in patients with Parkinson's disease have some similarities to and some differences from those observed in patients without Parkinson's disease. Depression in both groups is characterised by loss of interest, loss of energy, psychomotor retardation, difficulty with concentration, irritability, sadness and dysphoria.^[34,35] Depressed patients with Parkinson's disease exhibit less self-blame, guilt, sense of failure and delusional ideation,^[36] and harbour fewer self-destructive thoughts than patients with primary depression.^[24]

Although patients with Parkinson's disease may entertain suicidal thoughts, they seldom commit suicide.^[37] Features of panic and anxiety commonly coexist with depression in patients with Parkinson's disease,^[38] while episodes of mania and circadian mood changes do not.^[34]

1.6 Depression and Severity of Parkinson's Disease (PD)

As early as 1923, Jackson et al.^[39] reported that depression frequently preceded the onset of motor signs in individuals who developed Parkinson's disease. Subsequent studies have confirmed this finding, with prevalence rates of premorbid depression ranging from 12 to 37%.^[40]

Depression in Parkinson's disease does not consistently correlate with severity of motor symptoms,^[41] or functional disability.^[42] Once motor symptoms emerge, there may be a nonlinear relationship of depressive symptoms to stage of disease. Two clinical studies have found depression to be most common in Hoehn and Yahr stages I, III and IV.^[43,44] It is unclear whether this observation represents a consistent triphasic pattern, or whether methodological issues such as sampling bias could explain these findings.^[45]

1.7 Depression and Motor Fluctuations

Motor fluctuations may be accompanied by fluctuations in mood. Several studies have noted a correlation between 'off' periods and depressive symptoms in small sample populations.^[46-48] Depressed mood often improves as patients transition from the 'off' to the 'on' state. In addition, Menza et al.^[46] described patients whose mood improved going from the 'off' to the 'on' state, only to have feelings of dysphoria recur as peak dose dyskinesias emerged.

1.8 Depression in PD Compared with Other Chronic Diseases

Depression may be more intimately linked to Parkinson's disease than other chronic, physically disabling ailments.^[49,50] Patients with Parkinson's disease exhibit significantly more depression than age- and gender-matched patients experiencing a wide array of chronic diseases including rheumatoid arthritis, paraplegia^[51] and hemiplegia due to cerebrovascular disease. Patients with parkinsonian symptoms exhibit more anxiety, general somatic symptoms and less motivation for work and other interests than patients with other disorders such as chronic disabilities, including cerebrovascular disease, spinal cord disease and orthopaedic conditions.^[52]

2. Pathophysiology

Endogenous or reactive factors, or both, may cause depression in individuals with Parkinson's disease. Neither functional disability nor disease duration has been consistently associated with depression in Parkinson's disease. Thus, a simple reactive model appears unlikely as the predominant cause of depression in most cases. The occurrence of depression shortly before motor symptoms in a large proportion of patients (see section 1.6) argues for a biochemical aetiology. Nonetheless, a variety of factors, including biochemical changes and psychosocial issues, may affect mood, and one or the other may be dominant in a given individual.

2.1 Depression and Dopamine

Dopamine may play a role in the pathogenesis of depression in Parkinson's disease. Affective disorders have long been associated with CNS changes in catecholamine metabolism,^[53-55] and depression has been linked to a relative deficiency of catecholamines. A reduction of catecholamines has been identified in patients with Parkinson's disease,^[56] sparking interest in the aminergic hypothesis for depression in Parkinson's disease. Decreased CSF levels of homovanillic acid (HVA; a metabolite of dopamine) in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease have been reported,^[57-59] but other studies have failed to replicate these findings.^[60]

Parkinson's disease is caused by a progressive loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra, resulting in striatal dopamine deficiency. Some psychiatric conditions, including depression^[61] and bipolar disorder,^[62] may be caused by a reduction of neurotransmitters, including dopamine. There is evidence that L-tyrosine and levodopa, precursors of dopamine, have antidepressant properties, particularly in patients with psychomotor retardation.^[63-65] In addition, some antidepressants including nomifensine and amfebutamone (bupropion) function as dopamine reuptake inhibitors,^[66] although it is unknown whether this mechanism of action is entirely responsible for the antidepressant activity of these drugs.^[67]

Animal studies have focused on dopaminergic circuits for reward, using 'learned helplessness' as a possible model for reactive depression.^[68] When exposed to uncontrollable stressors, animals develop decreased spontaneous activity and increased pas-

sivity. Although decreased levels of dopamine are found in the caudate nucleus and nucleus accumbens^[69] of these conditioned animals, the validity of this model as a mechanism of depression remains controversial.^[70,71]

Lesions of dopaminergic pathways outside the striatum have also been implicated in neuropsychiatric disorders.^[72] In animal models, the ventral tegmentum plays a role in reward system behaviours.^[73] Autopsies of several patients who had had depression and Parkinson's disease revealed dopamine depletion in the ventral tegmental area (VTA).^[74] VTA afferents project to the orbital and prefrontal cortices.^[75,76] Using 2-[¹⁸F]-fluoro-2deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET), these regions have been found to be hypometabolic in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease.^[77] Levodopa treatment has not consistently alleviated depressive symptoms,^[78] suggesting that dopamine deficiency alone is an inadequate explanation for depression in Parkinson's disease.

2.2 Depression and Serotonin

Serotonergic dysfunction is thought to play a major role in the aetiology of depression, both in patients with and without Parkinson's disease.^[78] The efficacy of SSRIs in treating depression underscores the importance of serotonin in depressive illness.

Alterations in CSF serotonergic parameters have been associated with depression in Parkinson's disease. Mayeux et al.^[79] found a 50% reduction in CSF levels of 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA; a metabolite of serotonin) in patients with Parkinson's disease compared with healthy controls, while depressed patients with Parkinson's disease had CSF levels of 5-HIAA which were about 20% lower than nondepressed patients with Parkinson's disease.^[79] Depressed patients without Parkinson's disease who attempted suicide reportedly had lower CSF 5-HIAA levels than controls.^[80]

In a more recent study, Kuhn et al.^[81] determined levels of biogenic amines in the CSF in 26 patients with early symptoms of Parkinson's disease who were not yet receiving antiparkinsonian treatment. No significant differences were found in CSF levels of dopamine, HVA or 5-HIAA between those patients with depression and those without. Thus, previously identified differences in CSF biochemical markers may be due to antiparkinsonian therapy,^[81] and support for the role of serotonergic alterations in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease remains elusive.

2.3 Anatomy of Depression in PD

Anatomical research on depression has focused on the frontal lobes,^[82-84] based primarily on animal models in which anterior cortical lesions cause apathy and emotional blunting.^[85] PET studies have identified disturbances in the frontal lobes of depressed patients with Parkinson's disease.^[77] The anteromedial regions of the medial frontal cortex and cingulate cortex (Brodman's areas 9 and 32) demonstrate reduced cerebral blood flow in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease compared with nondepressed patients with Parkinson's disease^[86] and nondepressed healthy elderly controls. Similar findings have been reported in individuals who were not elderly and did not have Parkinson's disease.^[87,88] Another study using hexamethylpropylene amine oxime spectroscopy (HMPAO-SPECT) yielded similar results.^[89] Mayberg et al.,^[77] using FDG-PET, identified hypometabolism of the caudate nuclei and anterior and orbitoinferior frontal cortices in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease compared with nondepressed patients and controls.^[77]

There is some evidence that the brainstem plays a role in mood disorders. In one case report of deep brain stimulation in a woman with long-standing Parkinson's disease and no prior history of depression, transient acute depression was induced by high-frequency stimulation of the left substantia nigra, 2mm below the target site.^[90] Subthalamic nucleus stimulation failed to elicit depressive symptoms. Although the aetiology of depression in this case in unknown, neural networks passing through the substantia nigra may have been affected. Other evidence for brainstem involvement in depression includes a preliminary study using transcranial sonography (TS) that identified mesencephalic brainstem alterations in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease.^[91] Increased raphe echogenicity was noted in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease compared with controls who were not depressed and did not have Parkinson's disease, similar to findings previously reported in depressed patients who did not have Parkinson's disease.^[92,93] Additional blinded trials using TS are needed to confirm these early observations.

3. Treatment

3.1 Nonpharmacological

Psychological counselling may be of some benefit in treating depression in Parkinson's disease.^[94] Ellgring et al.^[94] recruited 34 patients with Parkinson's disease to complete self-reported questionnaires concerning mood changes, anxiety, worry and other psychosocial issues. After a period of individual counselling, patients reported significant improvement. However, standardised depression scales were not administered before and after counselling, and there was no control group.

3.2 Pharmacological

3.2.1 Antidepressants

Tricyclic Antidepressants

Early trials of tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) suggested that they might improve parkinsonian motor features,^[95,96] while other trials failed to note significant benefit. Denmark et al.^[97] evaluated the effect of imipramine in nondepressed patients with Parkinson's disease in a double-blind, placebo-controlled crossover trial. All antiparkinsonian medications had been discontinued 3 days prior to the study, and improvement was noted in salivation and rigidity in 5 of 8 patients. In contrast, Andersen et al.^[98] performed a double-blind, placebo-controlled crossover trial of nortriptyline in 19 depressed patients with Parkinson's disease who were optimally treated with levodopa/ carbidopa. Nortriptyline produced no significant

Varying results from early studies may be explained by differences in study design. Clinical observation was frequently used to document changes in depression and motor function, rather than clinical rating scales. In addition, patients who were suboptimally treated with antiparkinsonian medications often experienced improvement in motor signs, while improvement in motor function was not observed in patients whose motor symptoms were well controlled with levodopa.^[98]

Anticholinergic or dopaminergic mechanisms may be responsible for TCA-induced improvement of some motor symptoms, including tremor and salivation.^[97] The effects of TCAs on striatal dopamine activity, however, are complex and poorly understood.^[99-101] One study found an increase in striatal dopamine level in rats following intraperitoneal injection of TCAs.^[100] In contrast, another study noted that rats injected with imipramine and sacrificed 6 hours later exhibited an increase in dopamine level in the pons, medulla and cerebellum, but a decrease in the striatum.^[102] Other studies suggest that TCAs may inhibit the uptake of dopamine.^[101]

A recent questionnaire of PSG investigators indicated that TCAs were chosen as first-line agents in 41% of cases of depression in patients with Parkinson's disease.^[103] The most commonly used TCAs were amitriptyline (52%), nortriptyline (33%), doxepin (10%) and desipramine (5%). The two most frequent reasons for choosing TCAs over the newer SSRIs included better efficacy in treating sleep disturbances and greater physician experience with the older drugs.^[103]

Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors and Atypical Antidepressants

Few reported studies have examined the clinical effects of SSRIs and atypical antidepressants in Parkinson's disease.

We evaluated the tolerability and efficacy of sertraline in treating depression in Parkinson's disease in an open-label study and found significant improvement in depression (BDI) scores, while parkinsonian (Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale) and energy level scores were unchanged.^[104] Meara and Hobson^[105] noted similar findings in another open-label trial of sertraline in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease, along with improved quality of life measures in patients who responded to drug therapy.

A 2-year open-label study evaluating the tolerability and efficacy of paroxetine found that 85% of depressed patients with Parkinson's disease experienced a reduction in depressive symptomatology.^[106]

Another trial found that amfebutamone, an antidepressant with indirect dopamine agonist properties, significantly improved motor symptoms, including gait and akinesia. There was modest improvement in depression, perhaps because dosages were optimised to treat parkinsonian features rather than mood.^[107]

Thus, while open-label studies suggest that SSRIs and amfebutamone are effective in treating depression in Parkinson's disease, double-blind studies are lacking.

Complications of Antidepressant Treatment

Exacerbation of Parkinsonian Symptoms: Several case reports suggest that SSRIs may cause extrapyramidal symptoms (EPS) and can worsen motor signs in individuals with Parkinson's disease.

In one report, a 39-year-old woman with bipolar affective disorder whose symptoms were controlled with haloperidol developed cogwheel rigidity, masked facies and akathisia 2 weeks after starting fluoxetine. Extrapyramidal symptoms resolved with discontinuation of fluoxetine.^[108] In another case report, paroxetine, a phenylpiperidine derivative, was thought to be responsible for aggravating parkinsonism in a 35-year-old woman with early Parkinson's disease.^[109] Medication was withdrawn over a 2-month period and parkinsonian signs improved. EPS were also noted in 5 of 28 nonparkinsonian patients treated with fluoxetine for major depression in dosages ranging from 20 to 60 mg/day.[110] Within 2 weeks following withdrawal of fluoxetine, parkinsonian features improved.

Richard et al.^[3] conducted a retrospective chart review of 476 patients with Parkinson's disease, and identified 5 possible cases of SSRI-induced worsening of motor function. In all 5 cases there were alternative explanations for aggravation of motor symptoms. In 2 cases, discontinuation of previously used TCAs, rather than the addition of SSRIs, may have caused increased parkinsonian features. In another case, an antipsychotic was used in combination with an SSRI because of levodopa-induced psychosis, and parkinsonian symptoms improved when the antipsychotic was stopped. In the fourth case, parkinsonian symptoms worsened only when sertraline was used in higher than recommended dosages (600 mg/day). In the remaining case, fluoxetine use may have been responsible for increased tremor, but whether this represents a worsening of parkinsonian motor symptoms is unclear. Many medications are thought to induce tremor through nondopaminergic mech-

anisms [e.g. valproic acid (sodium valproate)]. It should also be noted that in any study population, some patients' clinical symptoms may worsen even when there is no identifiable cause. Clinical trials in populations with Parkinson's

disease have failed to identify worsening of parkinsonian features with use of SSRIs, although no controlled studies have been performed. An openlabel study examining the efficacy of sertraline in treating depression in Parkinson's disease did not find a worsening of parkinsonian signs.^[104] Montastruc et al.^[111] found no change in rigidity or bradykinesia scores in 14 nondepressed patients with Parkinson's disease treated with fluoxetine for 1 month. A retrospective chart review of depressed patients with Parkinson's disease treated with fluoxetine identified no worsening of parkinsonism.^[112]

It is therefore unclear whether SSRIs have an adverse effect on motor signs in Parkinson's disease. Almost half of the PSG investigators queried by Richard et al.^[103] were concerned that SSRIs might contribute to motor dysfunction, and 37% reported at least 1 incident in which this may have occurred. If SSRIs do exacerbate motor symptoms

in Parkinson's disease, the exact mechanism of action is unknown. Hypotheses include drug interactions, as well as inhibition of dopaminergic activity in the extrapyramidal system by serotonin.^[112]

The Serotonin Syndrome: A constellation of symptoms called the 'serotonin syndrome' can be caused by SSRIs, either alone or in combination with selegiline, and may be associated with enhanced stimulation of serotonin receptors in the brainstem and spinal cord.^[113] Criteria for the diagnosis include at least 3 of the following: mental status changes, myoclonus, diaphoresis, hyperreflexia, tremor, diarrhoea, shivering, incoordination and fever.^[113] Seizures, coma and death may also occur.^[114] Although arterial hypertension has also been reported with the concomitant use of fluoxetine and selegiline,^[115,116] it is unclear whether this is part of the serotonin syndrome.

The serotonin syndrome can be confused with the neuroleptic malignant syndrome (NMS). Symptoms of NMS include hyperthermia, rigidity and autonomic instability, and the syndrome is usually caused by use of a dopamine receptor antagonist or dopamine depletor. It can also occur when dopaminergic agents are discontinued. In contrast, the serotonin syndrome is usually caused by the use of a serotonergic agent, and temperature and creatine kinase values are altered to a lesser extent.^[117]

The serotonin syndrome is treated by discontinuation of the offending medication, along with supportive measures. Symptoms usually resolve over hours to weeks. The usefulness of serotonin receptor antagonists such as methysergide and cyproheptadine and β -blockers such as propranolol remains to be clarified.^[113]

The serotonin syndrome caused by the combination of selegiline and an antidepressant is uncommon. Laine et al.^[118] evaluated the risk of interaction between selegiline and citalopram, an SSRI,^[118] in a randomised, placebo-controlled trial of healthy individuals. Patients received either citalopram or placebo, followed by concomitant selegiline (10 mg/day) for several days. Safety analysis revealed no significant adverse events or pharmacokinetic interactions between the 2 groups. Comparison of plasma levels of noradrenaline (norepinephrine), adrenaline (epinephrine) and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylglycol (DHPG) and urinary levels of serotonin and 5-HIAA failed to identify subclinical interaction between selegiline and citalopram.

Two chart reviews of patients who received a combination of SSRIs and selegiline failed to note adverse effects which had not already been reported with each respective medication.^[119,120] In a survey of PSG investigators, only 0.24% of 4568 patients treated with combination therapy reported symptoms which were thought to be consistent with the serotonin syndrome and only 0.04% experienced symptoms which were considered 'serious'.^[121]

Current information indicates that serious interactions between selegiline and antidepressants are rare, and it is possible that some patients may be at risk because of individual variations in metabolic pathways.

Future Clinical Trials: The safety and efficacy of antidepressants in the treatment of depression in Parkinson's disease should be evaluated by doubleblind prospective clinical trials. Such studies should use standardised clinical criteria and validated and widely used neuropsychiatric scales. Clinical evaluations should also include an assessment of motor signs and the incidence of the serotonin syndrome. Doses of antiparkinsonian medications should be held constant during these studies, and antidepressants should be studied at sufficient doses and over sufficient time to adequately evaluate their effects. Retrospective studies indicate that serious adverse effects due to the serotonin syndrome appear to be rare, and it seems reasonable not to exclude patients who are receiving selegiline at stable dosages of 10 mg/day or less.

3.2.2 Selegiline (Deprenyl)

The monoamine oxidase (MAO) inhibitors were the first effective antidepressants.^[122] Selegiline was designed as a 'psychic energiser', comprised of an amphetamine moiety combined with an antidepressant-like compound.^[123] Although selegiline is a relatively selective MAO-B inhibitor at oral dosages of 10 mg/day or less, at higher dosages it becomes a nonselective MAO inhibitor. Antidepressant effects occur at dosages of 30 to 40 mg/day, probably due to inhibition of MAO-A.^[124] Selective inhibition of MAO-A, but not MAO-B, has been shown to result in antidepressant-like effects in rats.^[125] A double-blind placebo-controlled study evaluated the effect of selegiline in patients with primary depression. Depression was unchanged after 3 weeks at 10 mg/day, but significantly improved after 6 weeks at 30 mg/day.^[126] Another study reported no significant effect at dosages of 20 mg/day administered for 3 weeks.^[127]

At dosages of less than 10 mg/day, selegiline is generally not associated with hypertensive reactions when administered with tyramine or other monoamines.^[128] However, at higher dosages, its use is subject to precautions that would apply to MAO-A inhibitors, including a tyramine-restricted diet and discontinuation of levodopa.^[129]

3.2.3 Dopamine Agonists

Dopamine agonists have antidepressant effects in animal models of depression.^[130] There is also clinical evidence that dopamine agonists such as bromocriptine and piribedil^[131,132] may possess antidepressant properties in patients without Parkinson's disease.^[133,134] One open-label trial of pergolide in 20 patients with refractory mood disorders (either unipolar or bipolar) found substantial improvements in mood, interest and energy in 11 of 20 patients when pergolide was added to maximally tolerated doses of antidepressants.^[131]

Pramipexole, a non-ergot dopamine D_2/D_3 agonist, has been found to reduce the negative symptoms of schizophrenia when used as an adjunct to antipsychotics.^[135] Two case reports have also documented an improvement of treatment-resistant bipolar depression with pramipexole use.^[136]

Double-blind, prospective studies are needed to assess the role of dopamine agonists as antidepressant agents in patients with Parkinson's disease.

4. Conclusions

Depression is common in individuals with Parkinson's disease, and its treatment may improve a patient's quality of life. Physicians need to routinely evaluate patients for the presence of depression during clinical evaluations. Further validation of clinical rating scales for depression in Parkinson's disease is warranted. Population studies do not indicate that patients experience worsening of motor signs with use of SSRIs, and the 'serotonin syndrome', caused by the combination of SSRIs and selegiline, appears to be rare. Antidepressants appear to be effective in treating depression in Parkinson's disease, but prospective double-blind studies are needed to confirm this impression.

References

- Cummings JL. Depression and Parkinson's disease: a review. Am J Psychiatry 1992; 149: 443-54
- Herlofson Karlsen K, Larsen JP, Tandberg E, et al. Influence of clinical and demographic variables on quality of life in patients with Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1999; 66: 431-5
- Richard IH, Maughn A, Kurlan R. Do serotonin reuptake inhibitor antidepressants worsen Parkinson's disease? A retrospective case series. Mov Disord 1999; 14: 155-93
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 1994
- Starkstein SE, Preziosi TJ, Bolduc PL, et al. Depression in Parkinson's disease. J Nerv Ment Dis 1990; 178: 27-31
- 6. Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, et al. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1961; 4: 561-71
- Dahlstrom WG. An MMPI handbook: clinical interpretation. Vol. 1. Minneapolis (MN): University of Minnesota Press, 1992
- Hamilton M. Development of a rating scale for primary depressive illness. Br J Soc Clin Psychol 1967; 6: 278-96
- Montgomery SM. Depressive symptoms in acute schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol 1979; 3: 429-33
- Yesavage JA, Brink RL, Rose TL, et al. Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. J Psych Res 1982-83; 17: 37-49
- Goldberg P. The detection of psychiatric illness by questionnaire. London: Oxford University Press, 1972 (Maudsley Monograph; 21)
- Goldberg D. Manual of the General Health Questionnaire. Windsor: NFER-Nelson, 1978
- Fava M, Rosenbaum JF, Kolsky AR, et al. Open study of the catechol-O-methyltransferase inhibitor tolcapone in major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1999; 19: 329-35
- Danielczyk W, Streifler M, Konradi C, et al. Platelet MAO-B activity and the psychopathology of Parkinson's disease, senile dementia and multi-infarct dementia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1988; 78: 730-6
- Ardouin C, Pillon B, Peiffer E, et al. Bilateral subthalamic or pallidal stimulation for Parkinson's disease affects neither

memory nor executive functions: a consecutive series of 62 patients. Ann Neurol 1999; 46: 217-23

- Masterman D, DeSalles A, Baloh RW, et al. Motor, cognitive, and behavioral performance following unilateral ventroposterior pallidotomy for Parkinson's disease. Arch Neurol 1998; 55: 1201-8
- Pilo L, Ring H, Quinn N, et al. Depression in multiple system atrophy and in idiopathic Parkinson's disease: a pilot comparative study. Biol Psychiatry 1996; 39: 803-7
- Levin BE, Llabre MM, Weiner WJ. Parkinson's disease and depression: psychometric properties of the Beck Depression Inventory. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1988; 51: 1401-4
- Hantz P, Caradoc-Davies G, Caradoc-Davies T, et al. Depression in Parkinson's disease. Am J Psychiatry 1994; 151: 1010-4
- Doonief G, Mirabello E, Bell K, et al. An estimate of the incidence of depression in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Arch Neurol 1992; 49: 305-7
- Gotham AM, Brown RG, Marsden CD. Depression in Parkinson's disease: a quantitative and qualitative analysis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1986; 49: 381-9
- Mayeux R, Stern Y, Rosen J, et al. Depression, intellectual impairment, and Parkinson's disease. Neurology 1981; 31: 645-50
- Santamaria J, Tolosa E, Valles A. Parkinson's disease with depression: a possible subgroup of idiopathic parkinsonism. Neurology 1986; 36: 1130-3
- Huber SJ, Friedenberg DL, Paulson GW, et al. The pattern of depressive symptoms varies with progression of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1990; 53: 275-8
- Tandberg E, Larsen JP, Aarsland D, et al. The occurrence of depression in Parkinson's disease. A community-based study. Arch Neurol 1996; 53: 175-9
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 3rd ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 1980
- Tandberg E, Larsen JP, Aarsland D, et al. Risk factors for depression in Parkinson's disease. Arch Neurol 1997; 54: 625-30
- Brown RG, MacCarthy B, Gotham AM, et al. Depression and disability in Parkinson's disease: a follow-up study of 132 cases. Psychol Med 1988; 18: 49-55
- Starkstein SE, Berthier ML, Bolduc PL. Depression in patients with early versus late onset of Parkinson's disease. Neurology 1989; 39: 1441-5
- Kostic VS, Filipovic SR, Lecic D, et al. Effect of age on frequency of depression in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1994; 57: 1265-7
- Hofman A, Colette HJ, Bartels AI. Incidence and risk factors of Parkinson's disease in the Netherlands. Neuroepidemiology 1989; 8: 296-9
- Cote L. Depression: impact and management by the patient and family. Neurology 1999; 7 Suppl. 3: 7-9
- Gonera EG, van't Hof M, Berger HJ, et al. Symptoms and duration of the prodromal phase in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 1997; 12 (6): 871-6
- Miyoshy K, Ueki A, Nagano O. Management of psychiatric symptoms of Parkinson's disease. Eur Neurology 1996; 36: 49-54
- Ellgring H, Seiler S, Nagel U, et al. Psychosocial problems of Parkinson patients: approaches to assessment and treatment. Adv Neurol 1990; 53: 349-53
- Taylor AT, Saint-Cyr JA, Lang AE, et al. Parkinson's disease and depression: a critical re-evaluation. Brain 1986; 109: 279-92
- Haltenhof H, Schroter C. Depression beim Parkinson-Syndrom: eine literatubersicht. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr 1994; 62: 94-101

- Schiffer RB, Kurlan R, Rubin A, et al. Evidence for atypical depression in Parkinson's disease. Am J Psychiatry 1988; 145: 1020-2
- Jackson JA, Free GBM, Pike HV. The psychic manifestations in paralysis agitans. Arch Neurol Psychiatry 1923; 8: 680-4
- Mindham RH. Psychiatric symptoms in parkinsonism. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1970; 33: 188-91
- Brown GL, Wilson WP. Parkinsonism and depression. South Med Jour 1972; 65: 540-5
- Mindham RHS, Marsden CD, Parkes JD. Psychiatric symptoms during L-dopa therapy for Parkinson's disease and their relationship to physical disability. Psychol Med 1976; 6: 23-33
- Celesia GG, Wanamaker WM. Psychiatric disturbances in Parkinson's disease. Dis Nerv Syst 1972; 9: 577-83
- Ehmann TS, Beninger RJ, Gawel MJ, et al. Depressive symptoms in Parkinson's disease: a comparison with disabled control subjects. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 1990; 2: 3-9
- Brown R, Jahanshahi M. Depression in Parkinson's disease: a psychosocial viewpoint. Adv Neurol 1995; 65: 61-84
- Menza MA, Sage J, Marshall E, et al. Mood changes and 'onoff' phenomena in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 1990; 5: 148-51
- Cantello R, Gilli M, Riccio A, et al. Mood changes associated with 'end-of-dose deterioration' in Parkinson's disease: a controlled study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1986; 49: 1182-90
- Brown R, Marsden CD, Quinn N, et al. Alterations in cognitive performance and affect-arousal state during fluctuations in motor function in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1984; 47: 454-65
- Warburton JS. Depressive symptoms in Parkinson patients referred for thalamotomy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1967; 30: 368-70
- Singer E. The effect of treatment with levodopa on parkinson patients' social functioning and outlook on life. J Chronic Dis 1974; 27: 581-94
- Horn S. Some psychological factors in parkinsonism. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1974; 37: 27-31
- Robins AH. Depression in patients with parkinsonism. Br J Psychiatry 1976; 128: 141-5
- Schildkraut JJ. The catecholamine hypothesis of affective disorders: a review of supporting evidence. Am J Psychiatry 1965; 122 (5): 509-22
- Cole JO, Jones RT, Klerman GL. Drug therapy. In: Spiegel EA, editor. Progress in neurology and psychiatry. New York (NY): Greene & Stratton, 1961; 16: 539-74
- Cole JO, Klerman GL, Jones RT. Drug therapy. In: Spiegel EA, editor. Progress in neurology and psychiatry. New York (NY): Greene & Stratton, 1960; 15: 540
- 56. Fahn S, Libsch LR, Cutler RW. Monoamines in the human neostriatum: topographic distribution in normals and in Parkinson's disease and their role in akinesia, rigidity, chorea, and tremor. J Neurol Sci 1971; 14: 427-55
- Sjostrom R, Roos BE. 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid and homovanillic acid in cerebrospinal fluid in manic-depressive psychosis and the effect of probenecid treatment. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1973; 6: 75-80
- van Praag HM, Korf J, Schut T. Cerebral monoamines and depression. An investigation with the probenecid technique. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1973; 28: 827-31
- Berger PA, Faull KF, Kilkowski J. CSF monoamine metabolites in depression and schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 1980; 137: 174-9

- Vestergaard P, Soresen R, Hoppe E, et al. Biogenic amine metabolites in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with affective disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1978; 58: 88-96
- van Amsterdam JG, Opperhuizen A. Nitric oxide and biopterin in depression and stress. Psychiatry Res 1999; 85: 33-8
- 62. DiBella D, Catalano M, Cichon S. Association study of a null mutation in the dopamine D4 receptor gene in Italian patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder, bipolar mood disorder, and schizophrenia. Psychiatry Gen 1996; 6: 119-21
- Gelenberg AJ, Gibson CH, Wojcik JD. Neurotransmitter precursors for the treatment of depression Psychopharmacol Bull 1982; 18: 7-18
- Mouret J, Lemoine P, Minuit MP, et al. L-Tyrosine cures, immediate and long-term, dopamine dependent depressions. Clinical and polygraphic studies. C R Acad Sci III 1988; 306: 93-8
- 65. van Praag HM, Korf J, Lakke JPWF, et al. Dopamine metabolism in depressions, psychoses, and Parkinson's disease: the problem of the specificity of biological variables in behavior disorders. Psychol Med 1975; 5: 138-46
- Mann JJ, Kapur S. A dopaminergic hypothesis of major depression. Clin Neuropharmacol 1995; 18: S57-S65
- Feinberg M. Bupropion: new therapy for depression. Am Fam Physician 1990; 41: 1787-90
- Miller WR, Rosillini RA, Seligman MEP. Learned helplessness and depression. In: Seligman MEP, Maser J, editors. Psychopathology: experimental models. San Francisco (CA): Freema, 1977: 104-30
- Kapur S, Mann JJ. Role of the dopaminergic system in depression. Biol Psychiatry 1992; 32: 1-17
- Willner P. Dopamine and depression: a review of recent evidence. II. Theoretical approaches. Br Res Rev 1983; 6: 225-36
- Depeu RA, Monroe SM. Learned helplessness in the perspective of the depressive disorders: conceptual and definitional issues. J Abnorm Psychol 178; 87: 3-20
- Stevens JR, Livermore Jr A. Kindling of the mesolimbic dopamine system: animal model of psychosis. Neurology 1978; 28: 36-46
- Wise RA. Catecholamine theories of reward: a critical review. Brain Res 1978; 152: 215-47
- Torack RM, Morris JC. The association of ventral tegmental area histopathology with adult dementia. Arch Neurol 1988; 45: 497-501
- Glowinski J, Tassin JP, Thierry AM. The mesocortico-prefrontal dopaminergic neurons. Trends Neurosci 1984; 7: 415-8
- Simon H, Le Moal M, Calas A. Efferents and afferents of the ventral tegmental-A10 region studies after local injection of [3 H]-leucine and horseradish perioxidase. Brain Res 1979; 178: 17-40
- Mayberg H, Starkstein SE, Sadzot B, et al. Selective hypometabolism in the inferior frontal lobe in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 1990; 28: 57-64
- Mayeux R. Depression in the patient with Parkinson's disease. J Clin Psychiatry 1990; 51: 20-3
- Mayeux R, Stern Y, Williams JBW, et al. Clinical and biochemical features of depression in Parkinson's disease. Am J Psychiatry 1986; 143: 756-9
- Lloyd KJ, Farley IJ, Deck JHN, et al. Serotonin and 5hydroxyindoleacetic acid in discrete areas of brainstem of suicide victims and controls. Adv Biochem Psychopharmacol 1974; 11: 387-97
- Kuhn W, Muller T, Gerlach M, et al. Depression in Parkinson's disease: biogenic amines in CSF of 'de novo' patients. J Neural Transm 1996; 103 (12): 1441-5

- Robinson RG, Kubos KL, Starr LB, et al. Mood disorders in stroke patients: importance of location of lesion. Brain 1984; 107: 81-93
- Starkstein SE, Robinson RG, Price TR. Comparison of cortical and subcortical lesions in the production of poststroke mood disorders. Brain 1987; 110: 1045-59
- Grafman J, Vance SC, Weingartner H, et al. The effects of lateralized frontal lesions on mood regulation. Brain 1986; 109: 1127-48
- Mesulam MM. Frontal cortex behaviour. Ann Neurol 1986; 19: 320-5
- Ring HA, Bench CJ, Trimble MR, et al. Depression in Parkinson's disease. A position emission study. Br J Psychol 1994; 165: 333-9
- Baxter LR, Schwartz JM, Phelps ME, et al. Reduction of prefrontal cortex glucose metabolism common to three types of depression. Arch Gen Psych 1989; 46: 243-50
- Bench CJ, Friston KJ, Brown RG, et al. The anatomy of melancholia-focal abnormalities of cerebral blood flow in major depression and the cognitive impairment of depression. Psychol Med 1992; 22: 607-15
- Doherty S, Barber D, Hunt E, et al. Clinical correlates of resting state cerebral blood flow abnormalities in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease. A 99m-Tc-HMPAO SPECT study [abstract]. Neurology 1997; 48: A352
- Bejjani BP, Damier P, Arnulf I, et al. Transient acute depression induced by high-frequency deep-brain stimulation. N Engl J Med 1999; 340: 1476-80
- Becker T, Becker G, Seufert J, et al. Parkinson's disease and depression: evidence for an alteration of the basal limbic system detected by transcranial sonography. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1997; 63: 590-6
- Becker G, Struck U, Bogdagn U, et al. Echogenicity of the brainstem raphe in patients with major depression. Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging 1994; 55: 75-84
- Becker G, Becker T, Struch M, et al. Reduced echogenicity of brainstem raphe specific to unipoloar depression: a transcranial color-coded real-time sonography study. Biol Psychiatry 1995; 38: 180-4
- Ellgring H, Seiler S, Perleth B, et al. Psychosocial aspects of Parkinson's disease. Neurology 1993; 43 Suppl. 6: 41-4
- Strang RR. Imipramine in treatment of parkinsonism: a doubleblind placebo study. Br Med J 1965; 2: 33-4
- Laitinen L. Desipramine in treatment of Parkinson's disease: a placebo-controlled study. Acta Neurol Scand 1969; 45: 109-13
- Denmark JC, David JDP, McComb SG. Imipramine hydrocholride (tofranil) in parkinsonism. A preliminary report. Br J Clin Prac 1961; 15: 523-4
- Andersen J, Aabro E, Gulman N, et al. Anti-depressive treatment in Parkinson's disease: a controlled trial of the effect of nortriptyline in patients with Parkinson's disease treated with L-dopa. Acta Neurol Scand 1980; 62: 210-9
- Randrup A, Munkvad I, Fog J, et al. Mania, depression, and brain dopamine. Curr Dev Psychopharmacol 1975; 2: 206-48
- 100. Ghosh PK, Hrdina PD. Effects of tricyclic antidepressants on the content and metabolism of dopamine in the rat striatum. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1976; 55: 383-8
- Halaris AE, Belendiuk KT, Freedman DX. Antidepressant drugs affect dopamine uptake. Biochem Pharmacol 1975; 24: 1896-989
- 102. Alpers HS, Himwich HE. Effects of repeated daily injections of imipramine on brain levels of serotonin, 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid, norepinephrine and dopamine [abstract]. Fed Proc 1971; 30: 672

- 103. Richard IH, Kurlan R, and the Parkinson Study Group, A survey of antidepressant drug use in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 1997; 49: 1168-70
- 104. Hauser RA, Zesiewicz TA. Sertraline for the treatment of depression in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 1997; 12: 756-9
- 105. Meara J, Hobson P. Sertraline for the treatment of depression in Parkinson's disease [letter; comment]. Mov Disord 1998; 13 (3): 622
- 106. Wittgens W, Donath O, Trenckmann U. Treatment of depressive syndromes in Parkinson's disease with paroxetine [abstract]. Mov Disord 1997; 12: 128
- 107. Goetz CG, Tanner CM, Klawans HL. Bupropion in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 1984; 34: 1092-4
- 108. Tate JL. Extrapyramidal symptoms in a patient taking haldoperidol and fluoxetine. Am J Psychiatry 1989: 146; 399-400
- 109. Jimenez-Jimenez FJ, Tejeiro J, Martinez-Junquera G, et al. Parkinsonism exacerbated by paroxetine. Neurology 1994; 44 (12): 2406
- 110. Bouchard RH, Pourcher E, Vincent P. Fluoxetine and extrapyramidal side effects. Am J Psychiatry 1989; 146: 1352-3
- 111. Montastruc JL, Fabre N, Blin O. Does fluoxetine aggravate Parkinson's disease? A pilot prospective study. Mov Disord 1995; 10:355-6
- 112. Caley CF, Friedman JH. Does fluoxetine exacerbate Parkinson's disease? J Clin Psychiatry 1992; 53: 278-82
- 113. Sternbach H. The serotonin syndrome. Am J Psychiatry 1991; 148: 705-13
- 114. Feigher JP, Boyer WF, Tyler DL, et al. Adverse consequences of fluoxetine-MAOI combination therapy. J Clin Psychiatry 1990; 51: 222-5
- 115. Suchowersky Q, DeVries J. Possible interactions between deprenyl and prozac. Can J Neurol Sci 1990; 17: 352-3
- 116. Montastruc JL, Chamontin B, Senard JM, et al. Pseudophaeochromocytoma in parkinsonian patient treated with fluoxetine plus selegiline [letter]. Lancet 1993; 341 (8844): 555
- 117. Bodner RA, Lynch T, Lewis L, et al. Serotonin syndrome. Neurology 1995; 45: 219-23
- 118. Laine K, Anttila M, Heinonen E, et al. Lack of adverse interactions between concomitantly administered selegiline and citalopram. Clin Neuropharmacol 1997; 20: 419-33
- 119. Waters CH. Fluoxetine and selegiline. Can J Neurol Sci 1994; 21: 259-61
- 120. Toyama SC, Iacono RP. Is it safe to combine a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor with selegiline? Ann Pharmacother 1994; 28: 405-6
- 121. Richard I, Kurlan R, Tanner C, et al. Serotonin syndrome and the combined use of deprenyl and an antidepressant in Parkinson's disease. Parkinson Study Group. Neurology 1997; 48 (4): 1070-7
- 122. Rudorfer MV. Monoamine oxidase inhibitors: reversible and irreversible. Psychopharm Bul 1992; 28: 45-57

- 123. Knoll J, Ecseri Z, Kelemen K, et al. Phenylisopropylmethylpropinylamine (E-250), a new spectrum psychic energizer. Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther 1965; 155: 154-64
- 124. Sunderland T, Cohen R, Molchan S, et al. High-dose selegiline in treatment-resistant older depressive patient. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1994; 51: 607-15
- 125. Marek GJ, Seiden LS. Selective inhibition of MAO-A, not MAO-B, results in antidepressant-like effects on DRL 72-s behavior. Psychopharmacology 1988; 96: 153-60
- 126. Mann JJ, Aarons SF, Wilner PJ, et al. A controlled study of the antidepressant efficacy and side effects of (()-deprenyl. Arch Gen Psychol 1989; 46: 45-50
- 127. Mendis N, Pare CMB, Sandler M, et al. Is the failure of ldeprenyl, a selective MAO-B inhibitor, to alleviate depression related to freedom from cheese effect? Psychopharmacology 1981; 73: 87-90
- 128. McGrath PJ, Stewart JW, Quitkin FM. A possible 1-deprenyl induced hypertensive reaction. J Clin Psychopharm 1989; 9: 310-1
- 129. Sunderland T, Mueller EA, Cohen RM, et al. Tyramine pressor sensitivity changes during deprenyl treatment. Psychopharmacology 1985; 86: 432-7
- 130. Muscat R, Papp M, Willner P. Antidepressant-like effects of dopamine agonists is an animal model of depression. Biol Psychiatry 1992; 31: 937-46
- 131. Theohar C, Fischer-Cornelssen K, Akesson HO, et al. Bromocriptine as antidepressant: double-blind comparative study with imipramine in psychogenic and endogenous depression. Curr Ther Res 1981; 30: 830-41
- 132. Post RM, Gerner RH, Carman JS, et al. Effects of a dopamine agonist piribedil in depressed patients: relationship of pretreatment homovanillic acid to antidepressant response. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1978; 35: 609-15
- 133. Bouckoms A, Mangini L. Pergolide: an antidepressant adjuvant for mood disorders? Psychopharmacol Bull 1993; 29: 207-11
- 134. Grunder G, Wetzel H, Hammes E, et al. Roxindole, a dopamine autoreceptor agonist, in the treatment of major depression. Psychopharamcology (Berl) 1993; 111: 123-6
- 135. Kasper S, Barnas C, Heiden A, et al. Pramipexole as adjunct to haloperidol in schizophrenia: safety and efficacy. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 1997; 7: 65-70
- 136. Goldberg JF, Frye MA, Dunn RT. Pramipexole in refractory bipolar depression [letter]. Am J Psychiatry 1999; 156 (5): 798

Correspondence and offprints: Dr Robert A. Hauser, Parkinson's Disease and Movement Disorders Center, University of South Florida College of Medicine, 4 Columbia Drive, Suite 410, Tampa, FL 33606, USA. E-mail: rhauser@hsc.usf.edu